## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI GARY C. MARTER APPELLANT NO.: 2010-CA-1450 VS. 2011-CA-391 APPELLEE

### **CELESTE G. MARTER**

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1) **Gary Marter** 131 Nash Drive Grenada, Mississippi 38901
- **Celeste Marter** 2) 32 Rolling Oaks Grenada, Mississippi 38901

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. The Court erred in determining that only one-half of the farm is a marital asset.

a. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset pursuant to the family use doctrine.

b. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset through commingling.

2. The Court erred in determining the value it assigned to the farm because both parties agree that the value of the land used by the Court was not accurate and the Court failed to include the value of the timber.

3. The Court erred in determining that the metal building was a fixture and the Court erred in failing to account for the value of the metal building.

4. The Court erred in amending the Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration because the Court did not properly correct the Order in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(a) and there were no grounds to provide relief from judgment in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(b).

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

#### 1. NATURE OF CASE

This matter is an appeal from the Decree of Divorce entered by the Chancery Court of Grenada County, Mississippi, on June 28, 2010 and Order on Motion for Reconsideration entered by the Chancery Court of Grenada County, Mississippi on July 30, 2010 (Record Excerpts items 2 and 3 respectively). This matter is also an appeal from that Amended Order on Motion for Reconsideration entered by the Chancery Court of Grenada County, Mississippi on January 4, 2011 and Order denying motion to set aside amended order entered on February 9, 2011 (Record Excerpts items 4 and 5 respectively).

#### 2. <u>COURSE PROCEEDING</u>

The Plaintiff, Celeste Marter (hereinafter "Ms. Marter" or "the Appellee") filed a Complaint for Divorce on April 7, 2008 and subsequently filed an Amended Complaint for Divorce on April 1, 2009. Thereafter, Ms. Marter filed a second Amended Complaint for Divorce on February 19, 2010 alleging habitual cruel and inhuman treatment and in the alternative, adultery. The Defendant, Gary Marter, (hereinafter "Mr. Marter" or the "Appellant") filed a Counter-Complaint for Divorce on May 26, 2009 alleging adultery, habitual cruel and inhuman treatment and habitual drug use.

The trial of this matter began on March 1, 2010. At the end of the day, before the trial was concluded, the parties announced to the Court that they had agreed to a divorce on Irreconcilable Differences and had agreed on most issues. The Court ordered that the agreement be reduced to writing and that the parties submit by March 15, 2010 a proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with respect to any issues that the parties were

unable to resolve. Subsequently, the parties were unable to resolve any issues except for agreeing to a divorce on Irreconcilable Differences. The trial of this matter was continued to May 6, 2010.

After the conclusion of the trial on May 6, 2010 the Court rendered a written opinion that was filed with the Court on June 7, 2010 and was later reduced to a written order that was filed with the Court on June 28, 2010. (Record Excerpts items 6 and 2 respectively). Mr. Marter timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration on June 24, 2010 as did Ms. Marter.

The Court overruled Mr. Marter's Motion for Reconsideration by Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration entered on July 30, 2010 and Mr. Marter filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 27, 2010 bringing this matter before the Appellate Court (Record Excerpts item 3).

Subsequently, Ms. Marter filed a Motion to Correct Decree of Divorce on October 4, 2010 and Mr. Marter filed a Response to Motion to Correct Decree of Divorce on October 11, 2010. (Record Excerpts items 7 and 8 respectively). The record had been transmitted to the Supreme Court on December 3, 2010. (Record Excerpts item 1 page 7). The Court entered an Amended Order on Motion for Reconsideration on January 4, 2011. (Record Excerpts item 4). Mr. Marter filed a Motion to Set Aside Amended Order on January 13, 2011. The Court entered an Order denying Mr. Marter's Motion to Set Aside on February 9, 2011. (Record Excerpts item 5). Mr. Marter filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 10, 2011 bringing this matter before the Appellate Court. The two appeals have been consolidated by Order of the Supreme Court.

#### 3. STATEMENT OF ALL FACTS

During the parties' thirty-one year marriage, Ms. Marter inherited a one-half interest in 120 acres of farmland from her grandfather (Transcript dated March 1, 2010 (hereinafter "R") 167). When Ms. Marter inherited the land with her sister it was all hill land and no trees had yet been planted (R 106). Subsequently, during their marriage, Mr. and Ms. Marter purchased the other one-half interest in the farmland from Ms. Marter's sister and another relative (R 26).

Mr. Marter paid the farm taxes with marital funds (R2 78). The title to all 120 acres is held in both Mr. and Mrs. Marter's name (R 26). Mr. Marter took care of all of the 120 acres of farmland and Ms. Marter had not been down to the farm in years (R 143). The parties hired someone to plant the trees on the farmland (R 143). Additionally Mr. Marter helped plant the trees as well as Ms. Marter's brother-in-law (Transcript dated May 6, 2010 (hereinafter R2) 88). All of the trees were planted during the marriage (R 106). The property is not divided based on acres Ms. Marter inherited and acres that the parties purchased together (R 167).

Ms. Marter agreed that the value of the farmland without timber was \$55,000.00 (R 106). Ms. Marter later testified that she did not know what the actual value of the land was (R2 51-52). Ms. Marter says she let Mr. Marter value the farmland. (R2 54). Ms. Marter testified that she would not take \$55,000 for the land (R2 53). Mr. Marter testified that forty-nine acres contain pine trees and there is thirty-two acres of hardwood (R2 68). Mr. Marter said he believed the value of the land to be \$215,000 and the value of the value of the timber was pine trees at \$61,904 and hardwood at \$30,924.96 (R2 67-68).

The metal building was listed on Mr. Marter's Financial Declaration Form 8.05 with

8

a listed value of \$16,050. Mr. Marter testified that the metal building/storage building was located on the farm where he had things locked up in there (R 28-29). There was no testimony that this building was attached to the land or could not be removed. There was absolutely no testimony or evidence indicating that the building was a fixture.

The parties agreed that the cash in the bank accounts was used to purchase Mr. Marter's Murano as opposed to Ms. Marter's Infiniti. (Record Excerpts items 7 and 8). The value of the Murano is \$13,500 and the value of the Infiniti is \$19,675 as listed on the parties' Financial Declaration Forms.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Trial Judge erred in determining that only one-half of the parties' farmland was marital property. While the Trial Judge correctly noted that the Ms. Marter inherited onehalf of the farm, the Court did not consider that the all of the farmland was used by both parties and maintained by Mr. Marter. Mr. and Mrs. Marter paid the taxes on the all of the farmland and planted trees on the farmland. The farmland was thus commingled which transformed the entire farm into a marital asset.

The Trial Judge also erred by assigning an untrustworthy value to the farm. The Trial Judge failed to consider that both parties admitted that they did not have an accurate value for the farm. The Trial Judge also failed to include the value of the timber in the value for the farm.

The Trial Judge erred by failing to account for the value of the metal building in the equitable distribution of the marital assets. Mr. Marter listed the metal building in his Financial Declaration Rule 8.05 form and has a value listed which the Court dismissed and instead seemingly arbitrarily opined that the metal building was a fixture that passed with the farm without accounting for its value.

Finally, the Trial Judge erred by amending the Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration without seeking leave of the appellate court. Moreover, the Amended Order provides that Ms. Marter receives more than 50% of the marital assets and orders Mr. Marter to pay Ms. Marter a sum of money which was not ordered in the first Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. The Court erred in determining that only one-half of the farm is a marital asset.

c. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset pursuant to the family use doctrine.

d. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset through commingling.

2. The Court erred in determining the value it assigned to the farm because both parties agree that the value of the land used by the Court was not accurate and the Court failed to include the value of the timber.

3. The Court erred in determining that the metal building was a fixture and the Court erred in failing to account for the value of the metal building.

4. The Court erred in amending the Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration because the Court did not properly correct the Order in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(a) and there were no grounds to provide relief from judgment in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(b).

10

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **STANDARD OF PROOF**

For the sake of brevity it is recognized that throughout this brief the scope of appellate review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. <u>Samples v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 904 So.2d 1061, 1063-65 (¶ 9)(Miss. 2004). The Appellate Court will not disturb the chancellor's opinion when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. <u>Holloman v. Holloman</u>, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss 1996).

# 1. The Court erred in determining that only one-half of the farm is a marital asset.

The Trial Judge erred in determining that only one-half of the parties' farmland is marital property. The Trial Judge failed to consider that the all of the farmland was used by both parties and maintained by Mr. Marter (R 143). Mr. and Mrs. Marter paid the taxes on the all of the farmland with marital funds (R2 78). The parties planted trees on all of the farmland (R 143). The parties did not distinguish between the acres inherited by Ms. Marter and the acres purchased by the parties together (R 167).

# a. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset pursuant to the family use doctrine.

A party's separate property becomes marital when used by the family. <u>Brame v.</u> <u>Brame</u>, No. 98-CA-00502-COA, 20000 Miss. App. LEXIS 412 (Miss. Ct.App.2000); see also <u>King v. King</u>, 760 So.2d 830, 836 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); <u>Smith v. Smith</u>, 994 So.2d 882, 886 (Miss.CT.App.2008); <u>Bowen v. Bowen</u>, 982 So.2d 385, 395(Miss. 2008); <u>Faeber v. Faeber</u>, 13 So.3d 853 (Miss.Ct.App.2009); <u>McDuffie v. McDuffie</u>, 21 So.2d 3d 685, 691 (Miss.Ct.App.2009)

In <u>McDuffie</u>, the Court found that the marital home was brought into the marriage by the Husband but it was converted to a marital asset through familial use. <u>Id</u>. at 691. The Court found that both parties used the property for the benefit of the marriage and both parties made improvements to the property. <u>Id</u>. In this case, there is no question that both parties used the farm. Ms. Marter testified that Mr. Marter took care of the farm (R 143). Ms. Marter testified that she had not been down to the farm in years and Mr. Marter had the keys to the farm (R 143). Improvements were made by the parties to the farmland. The parties hired someone to plant the trees (R 143). Also, Mr. Marter helped plant the trees as well as Ms. Marter's brother-in-law (R2 88). Ms. Marter testified that there was no division of the property to show which part she inherited and which part they purchased from her sister (R 167). The fact that Ms. Marter received the money for Pine Tree Rental by direct deposit into her account (TR 70) does not override the substantial evidence indicating that the entire farm is a marital asset. All of the farmland was treated the same and all of it was used, maintained and improved by both parties.

#### b. The entire farm was converted to a marital asset through commingling.

Commingling occurs when there is a combination of marital and non-marital property which loses its status as non-marital as a result. <u>Maslowski v. Maslowski</u>, 655 So. 2d 18, 20 (Miss. 1995); see also <u>Henderson v. Henderson</u>, 703 So. 2d 262, 265 (Miss. 1997). Where parties pay taxes on a spouse's separate property from a joint account, the property

is converted to marital. <u>Messer v. Messer</u>, 850 So.2d 161, 168-69 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Where there is no evidence to distinguish between separate and marital funds, commingling occurs. <u>Parker v. Parker</u>, 929 So. 2d 940, 944 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Where there has been commingling and family use, the property will be classified as marital. <u>Fogarty v. Fogarty</u>, 922 So. 2d 836, 840 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Property owned prior to the marriage is converted to marital asset when the mortgage is paid with marital funds. <u>Irby v. Estate of Irby</u>, 7 So. 3d 223, 234 (Miss. 2009).

Mr. Marter testified that he paid the farm taxes with marital funds (R2 78). Mr. Marter maintained all of the 120 acres of farmland and he did not distinguish between the one-half he purchased and the one-half Ms. Marter inherited (R 143). Mr. Marter did testify on the first day of trial that he was only asking for one-half of the acres Mr. and Mrs. Marter purchased together; however, Mr. Marter later testified that he did not understand it all which is the reason he appeared to have changed positions when on the second day of trial he was asking for one-half of all of the 120 acres (R2 22). Also, title to the property was in both names as indicated by both parties (R2 54). Moreover, forty-nine acres contain pine trees and there is thirty-two acres of hardwood which the parties planted (R2 68). The parties did not distinguish between the land Ms. Marter inherited and the land they purchased together when they decided where to plant trees.

The Trial Judge found that the 120 acres of farm property was acquired during the marriage. (Record Excerpts, item 6, page 5, paragraph 7). The Trial Judge also found that the parties own the land jointly but found that it is unrefuted that the one-half interest was a product of inheritance to Ms. Marter and should be classified as her separate property and not marital in nature. (Record Excerpts, item 6, page 8). The Trial Judge is clearly

wrong in this instance as there is overwhelming evidence to support the finding that all of the farmland is a marital asset subject to equitable distribution.

2. The Court erred in determining the value it assigned to the farm because both parties agree that value used was not accurate and the Court failed to include the value of the timber.

Assets of divorcing parties are measured by fair market value or the price a willing buyer would pay a willing seller if both were adequately informed about the transaction. <u>Redd v. Redd</u>, 774 So.2d 492, 495 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The Trial court must assign a value to assets and a case will be reversed for failure to do so. <u>Horn v. Horn</u>, 909 So. 2d 1151, 1162-63 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). If values are out of date or untrustworthy that is grounds for reversal. <u>Bresnahan v. Bresnahan</u>, 818 So. 2d 1113, 1119 (Miss. 2002). In the absence of expert testimony a lay witness may testify as to his opinion as to value. <u>Watson</u> <u>v. Watson</u>, 882 So. 2d 95, 106 (Miss. 2004).

In this case, the value of \$110,000 for the farmland was not agreed to by either party. Mr. Marter testified that he took the value for the farmland from Ms. Marter (R 27). In the same way, Ms. Marter testified that she got the value from Mr. Marter (R 89.) Ms. Marter admitted that she had not done an appraisal on the farmland and did not know what the actual value was (R2 51-52). When asked if she would purchase one-half of the farmland, for \$55,000, Ms. Marter replied no that she would not (R2 53). Although Mr. Marter agreed to that value on the first day of trial, he realized he made a mistake and testified that he believed that the value of the farm was \$215,000.00 (R2 65-67).

Moreover, the trial court failed to include the value of the timber in the value of the

farmland. The farmland was not planted in trees when Ms. Marter inherited it (R 106). Ms. Marter answered yes when her attorney asked her to agree that her husband had the farmland valued at \$55,000 without lumber and she agreed. (R 106). The only value for the timber in evidence was the testimony of Mr. Marter and the value he included for the timber on his 8.05 Financial Declaration. In this case, Mr. Marter was clearly familiar with the farm having taken care of it. He believed the appraisal he had to be accurate and he testified that the value of the timber was pine trees at \$61,904 and hardwood at \$30,924.96 (R2 67-68). There was no other testimony regarding value of the timber. The Trial judge erred by failing to include Mr. Marter's value for the timber in the value of the farm.

# 3. The Court erred in determining that the metal building was a fixture and the Court erred in failing to account for its value.

The Court may use the value listed on the 8.05 financial when no additional proof of valuation is presented at trial. <u>Common v. Common</u>, 42 So.3d 59, 63 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). The metal building was listed on Mr. Marter's Financial Declaration Form 8.05 with a listed value of \$16,050. There was no testimony to suggest that the metal building was attached to the land or a fixture. The Trial Judge erred by failing to include the value of the metal building in the equitable distribution of the marital assets and seemingly arbitrarily finding that the metal building was a fixture that passed with the farm in his Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration. Since Ms. Marter received the metal building with the farm, Mr. Marter should thus receive one-half of the value of the building which is \$8,025.00 back on his side of the distribution of assets.

4. The Court erred in amending the Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration because the Court did not properly correct the Order in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(a) and there were no grounds to provide relief from judgment in accordance with M.R.C.P 60(b).

The relevant portion of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60(a) reads as follows:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the Court at any time on its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders up until the time the record is transmitted by the clerk of the trial court to the appellate court and the action remains pending therein. *Thereafter, such mistakes may be so corrected only with leave of the appellate court* [emphasis added].

Rule 60(a) provides that clerical mistakes in judgments and the record may be taken up at any time "until the time the record is transmitted by the clerk of the trial court to the appellate court and the action remains pending therein. Thereafter such mistakes may only be corrected with leave of the appellate court". <u>Knight v. Mississippi</u>, 959 So.2d 598, 603 (Miss.App. 2007).

Here, the record was transmitted by the clerk of the trial court to the appellate court on December 3, 2010. (Record Excerpts, item 1, page 7). The Court entered the Amended Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration on December 30, 2010. (Record Excerpts item 4). After December 3, 2010, pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60(a), the trial court had no authority to correct the judgment unless leave from the appellate court was given.

Moreover, a trial Judge may use Rule 60(a) to correct an order that failed to accurately reflect the Judge's decisions but the Judge may not use Rule 60(a) to change his mind. Jones v.

<u>Mayo</u>, 53 So.3d 832, 836 (Miss.App.2011). In <u>Jones</u>, the Court neglected to include in its decision how a transfer of retirement accounts would occur. <u>Id</u>. The Court amended its opinion via Rule 60(a) to include in its order that a QDRO be used. <u>Id</u>. The Court stated that it was not changing the previous order but rather clarifying the intent of the previous award, that the parties share equally without any tax consequences. <u>Id</u>.

4

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