IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CONSOLIDATED CAUSE NOS.: 2010-CA-1450 AND 2011-CA-391



GARY C. MARTER, APPELLANT

VS.

CELESTE G. MARTER, APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellee, Celeste G. Marter, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Gary Marter
 131 Nash Drive
 Grenada, MS 38901
- 2) Celeste (Marter) Goodsen32 Rolling OaksGrenada, MS 38901

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Gary raises four (4) issues in his appeal in this case. In his first issue he claims that the Court improperly determined that one half of the farm property was Celeste's separate property because of her inheritance of a one-half interest through her grandmother. He claims that the entire farm property should have been deemed to be marital property as a result of being converted to marital property through either the family use doctrine or commingling.

Neither the family use doctrine or commingling apply to the farm property in this case. The evidence introduced at trial clearly shows that Celeste inherited a one-half undivided interest in the entire farm property from her grandmother. Said interest was correctly classified by the Chancellor as her separate property.

Gary and Celeste acquired the remaining undivided one-half interest in the farm with marital assets, and the Chancellor correctly held that this portion was subject to equitable division.

Gary as his second issue objects to the valuation placed on the farm. No competent evidence was presented to the Court however, to support a value other than that ultimately utilized by the Court.

As his third issue Gary complains that the Court was wrong in determining that the metal shop building on the property was determined to be a fixture. His only argument on this issue is that he placed a separate value for the metal building in his financial declaration. There was no evidence produced during any hearing that the building was not a fixture attached to the real estate.

Gary's final issue is his objection to the "Amended Order Regarding Motions for Reconsideration" (RE number 4, CP in 2011-CA-391 pp. 10-12). Gary claims that said Order was entered contrary to and in violation of the provisions of M.R.C.P. 60 (a) and (b). However, Celeste's Motions for Reconsideration and the Subsequent Motion to Correct Judgment were both timely filed in accordance with M.R.C.P. 60 and the relief sought fell within the parameters of said rule. Moreover, Gary agreed at the hearing on Celeste's "Motion for Reconsideration" and in his response to her "Motion to Correct Judgment" that she was entitled to the relief requested, because of Gary's erroneous testimony over the vehicle actually purchased.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

STANDARD OF PROOF

Celeste agrees that Gary's brief filed with this Court correctly states that the scope of appellate review in this case, as to each issue raised in Gary's appeal is governed by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. In reviewing a chancery court's judgment, an appellate

Court "will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, applied an erroneous legal standard, was manifestly wrong, or was clearly erroneous." *Hamilton v. Hopkins*, 834 So.2d 695, 699 (¶12) (Miss. 2003). A chancellor's interpretation and application of the law, however, is reviewed de novo. *Bond v. Bond*, 69 So.3d 771, 772 (¶3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2011).

GARY'S ISSUE NO 1:

The Court erred in determining that only one-half of the farm is a marital asset.

Gary now claims that the entire farm property should have been treated as a marital asset. However, he certainly did not hold that view throughout the course of the proceedings in the hearings in this case. During his March 1, 2010, testimony Gary agreed that he was making no claim to the portion of the property that Celeste inherited and that his only claim was to a one-half interest in the remaining one-half of the property that they purchased. (R. pp. 24, 25 in 2010-CA-1450)

In *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d 909, 914-915 (Miss. 1994) marital property was defined as "any and all property acquired or accumulated during the marriage." Assets attributable to one of the parties' separate estates outside the marriage are excluded from that definition. Property that is "clearly obtained by one spouse through gift or inheritance is nonmarital property not subject to equitable distribution." *Larue v. Larue*, 969 So.2d 99, 106(Miss.App. 2007)

Celeste inherited an undivided one half interest in the farm property from her grandmother and Gary and Celeste purchased the remaining interest (R pp. 24-25, 89, 170-171 in 2010-CA-1450). This created a situation where she and Gary were essentially co-tenants

of the farm property. As such, Gary would have had access to the entire property based on his one fourth (1/4th) undivided interest. A tenancy in common occurs when "two or more persons, in equal or unequal undivided shares, have an equal right to possess the property. Moreover, our case law has recognized that: It is not essential to the right of partition that the cotenants shall have estates that are equal. One may have a term, another an estate for life, and another an estate in fee. All that is necessary is that they shall be cotenants of what is proposed to be partitioned. Betty Lockhart, v. Richard Collins, Peggy Collins, Bolin Hamilton and Orene Hamilton, No. 2010-CA-01705-SCT, at ¶ 11, decided November 17, 2011.

Gary's claims that the entire farm property was a marital asset through either the "family use doctrine" or "commingling" are each based on essentially the same factual allegations.

Those fact allegations on which Gary's claims are based are: taxes were paid on the property with marital funds; Gary used the property and assisted in planting trees on the property; the parties did not distinguish between acres inherited by Celeste and acres purchased together; and the property was titled in them jointly by virtue of a deed executed in 2007.

"One who purchases or obtains by conveyance the undivided share of a tenant in common becomes a cotenant with the remaining owner or owners." *Wilder v. Currie*, 231 Miss. 461, 473-474, 95 So.2d 563, 566, (1957) "Tenants in common hold by several and distinct titles, with unity of possession; and each tenant owns an undivided fraction, being entitled to an interest in every inch of the property. * * *' The tenants may claim their several titles and interests from the same or entirely different sources; the shares may be unequal and the modes of acquisition of titles may be unlike. Tenants in common are united only by their right to possession of the property. Each tenant has an undivided fraction and each is entitled to an interest in every inch of

the soil, each being entitled to occupy the whole in common with the others and to receive his share of the rents and profits." *Wilder v. Currie*, 231 Miss. 461, 95 So.2d 563, 566-567(Miss. 1957) citing *Anderson v. Boyd*, Miss., 91 So.2d 537, 542

Gary's Payment of Taxes for the Farm

The testimony of concerning Gary's payment of taxes on the property is that he paid the taxes on the farm "as far as he could remember". But he produced only three (3) cancelled checks for tax years 2006(paid in Jan. 2007), 2007(paid in Jan 2008), and 2008 (paid in January 2009) showing payments to the Grenada County Tax Assessor (Exhibit 7-A) (R pp. 257-259 in 2010-CA-1450) None of the checks designated the property for which the taxes were being paid, and Gary produced no receipts from the Tax Assessor showing payment of taxes for the farm.

If the farm taxes were actually paid with said checks, the payments began at about the same time Gary was having the joint deed to the farm property (Exhibit 5-A) prepared.

Additionally, after having testified on direct that he had paid the taxes for as long as he could remember, on cross examination he admitted that prior to 2007, Celeste's CRP payments went to pay at least some of the taxes. (R. p. 263)

"A co-tenant in possession is under a duty to pay the taxes but failing in that has a duty to redeem from the tax sale for the benefit of all of the tenants, in common, and he cannot purchase any interest adverse to them, and a purchase of an outstanding tax title by a tenant in common inures to the benefit of all tenants the cost of the redemption being a common charge against the property held in common." Wilder v. Currie, 231 Miss. 461, 95 So.2d 563, 568 (Miss. 1957) citing Howard v. Wactor, 41 So.2d at page 261 (Miss. 1949)

Gary, as a co-tenant basically took possession of the entire property. He had all the keys and for all practical purposes had Celeste locked out. He additionally wouldn't allow any of Celeste's family members to enter or utilize the property. (R. pp. 145, 146, 232) By his actions, he utilized his position as a cotenant to become the tenant in possession of the farm property. As such, he had the obligation to pay the taxes on the property. Therefore, any tax payments he made are consistent with his position as a co-tenant. Such payments are not indicative of any conversion of Celeste's undivided interest in the farm from separate to marital.

Gary's use of and Planting Trees on Farm Property

As a co-tenant with Gary in the farm property Celeste would have no legal means, other than filing a partition suit, to keep Gary off the property or any part thereof during the existence of the co-tenancy.

While Gary substantially controlled the access to the entire farm, there is very little testimony concerning any of his actual efforts to improve the property. Most of the trees planted on the farm property were planted by hired help, and by Celeste's brother-in-law. Gary helped three Mexicans plant a part back behind the trailer. (R. pp. 145, 266-267)

Gary's evidence concerning his use of land in which he was a co-tenant and had a right to utilize every acre, is less evidence than that upon which the Mississippi Court of Appeals previously found insufficient to convert separate property to marital. In *Ory v. Ory*, 936 So.2d 405, 411 (Miss.App. 2006) a husband was claiming that seventy-five acres his wife inherited had become marital property because of his efforts to improve the land. The Court found that he had made some efforts to improve the land, but the testimony was unclear as to what extent his efforts improved the seventy-five-acre tract versus the five-acre parcel upon which the marital

home was built. Nevertheless, the record did show that the husband cleared a portion of the land, hauled dirt onto the property, and had a large number of seedlings planted on the property. The husband failed, however, to put forth sufficient evidence to prove that his activity was so pervasive as to convert the entire seventy-five-acre parcel into a marital asset, or show how the land increased in value during his marriage. The Court could not under those facts found that the chancellor was manifestly wrong in characterizing the parcel as a non-marital asset.

Gary's use of the land was consistent with his rights as a cotenant, and were insufficient to constitute a conversion of Celeste's inherited portion of the farm from separate to marital. His evidence of his use is not sufficient to support a finding that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong in his determination.

The Parties did not Distinguish Between Acres Inherited by Celeste and Acres Purchased by the Parties Together

Because of the co-tenancy created by Celeste and Gary's purchase of the one half of the farm not inherited by Celeste, a distinction between inherited acres and purchased acres was impossible without a partition. Both Celeste and Gary, had an absolute right to access and use the entire property, even though Gary's fractional part of the property was substantially less than that of Celeste.

The fact that Gary made some use of the property, did not change the character of Celeste's inherited one half interest and did not constitute a commingling by Celeste.

2007 Deed Creating a Joint Tenancy

Gary additionally argues, without any supporting authority that title was in both names as support for his claim that the entire farm property was marital property. *Pearson v. Pearson*, 761

So.2d 157, 163, (Miss. 2000) abolished the joint title presumption and required that all factors be considered in determining which assets are marital property.

In viewing the evidence in this case the Chancellor certainly had an ample reason to question the voluntariness of the deed executed within about a year before the parties separation which created a joint tenancy between Celeste and Gary in the farm property. (Exhibit 5-A) Celeste testified that Gary essentially hounded her until she executed the deed. (R p. 233 in 2010-CA-1450).

Gary conversely testified that it was Celeste who was complaining to him on a daily basis that the house was in his name, the lots were in his name and she was "bugging" him on a daily basis to have her name added to those properties. (R pp. 266 in 2010-CA-1450) However the deed he had prepared only included the farm and the two vacant lots. It did not include the marital home. (Exhibit 5-A)

The Chancellor had sufficient reason to question Gary's veracity with regard to why and how the deed was prepared. His testimony that his primary goal in having the deed prepared was to stop Celeste's alleged complaints concerning her name not being on the title to the marital home is inconsistent with the reality that he had a deed prepared which included the farm property but did not include the marital home which was solely in his name.

The evidence supports a conclusion that the Chancellor as a matter of equity, decided that the deed creating a joint tenancy, should not change the character of Celeste's inheritance from separate to marital.

GARY'S ISSUE NO 2:

The Court erred in determining the value assigned to the farm because both parties agree

that the value used was not accurate and the Court failed to include the value of the timber.

"[T]he chancellor's discretion in the area of equitable distribution is exceedingly broad[,] and he 'has the flexibility to do what equity and justice requires." *Powell v. Powell*, 2010-CA-01041-COA (MSCA) at ¶ 19, decided November 8, 2011 citing *In re Dissolution of Marriage of Wood*, 35 So.3d at 516 (¶20) (quoting *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So.2d 583, 590 (¶21) (Miss. 2002)).

The claim of Gary in this case concerning the Chancellor's valuation of the farm property is very similar to the claims made in *Powell v. Powell*, 2010-CA-01041-COA (MSCA), at paragraphs 20 and 21. In ¶ 20 of *Powell v. Powell*, the Court said:

¶20. Sherida first attacks the value that the chancery court assigned to the marital home, which James testified was worth \$80, 000 before he renovated it prior to his marriage to Sherida. Sherida complains that numerous documents could have been provided to prove the value of the home. While such documents could have been provided, they were not–not by James, and not by Sherida. Sherida was entitled to provide whatever documentation she could obtain regarding the value of the home; in the absence of such, we decline to find error with the chancery court's valuation of the home.

In ¶ 21 of the *Powell* opinion the Court said the following:

¶21. Sherida next complains that the chancellor erred in "failing to calculate the value" of the future payments on the promissory note from ASAP's sale. We note that Sherida made no effort to provide a calculation of the future value of the payments. In the absence of any valuation of the ASAP promissory note payments, we decline to hold the chancery court in error in its valuation of the payments.

While Gary complains about the farm property valuations, all of the valuations were provided by him. He is simply upset that the Court failed to utilize his second opinion as to the value of the farm. At the second hearing in this matter (May 6, 2010) Gary simply wanted to testify to hearsay as to the value of an appraisal on the farm he had purportedly hired to be

conducted by an individual named Allan Traugott. Mr. Traugott, the appraiser also happened to be the owner of a dirt race truck that was sponsored by Gary's advertising. He failed to provide the appraisal in discovery, however, and the Chancellor appropriately denied the admission of the appraisal and Gary's testimony concerning the same. (R pp. 195, 245- 247, 2010-CA-1450)

The Chancellor did allow Gary to testify concerning his belief as to the value of the farm property at said hearing. (R pp. 245- 247, in 2010-CA-1450) Ultimately, the Chancellor chose to value the farm property in line with the initial value given it by Gary. From his deposition testimony until the March 1, 2010 hearing Gary had valued the entire 110 acres at \$55,000.00. At the March 1, 2010 hearing he valued it \$55,000.00, excluding an unnamed value for 28 acres of pine planted on it. (Exhibit 2) Certainly the Chancellors value of \$110,000.00 for the property would provide for both the property value and timber value thereon in accordance with Gary's opinion.

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